#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SR CONSTRUCTION, INC., A NEVADA DOMESTIC CORPORATION,

Appellant,

VS.

PEEK BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC., A NEVADA DOMESTIC CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Aug 11 2021 09:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No.: 82786

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, CASE NO. CV20-01375 THE HONORABLE BARRY BRESLOW, DISTRICT JUDGE

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Noah G. Allison (NV Bar 6202)
Heather Caliguire Fleming (NV Bar 14492)
The Allison Law Firm Chtd.
3191 E. Warm Springs Rd.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89120
(702) 933-4444
noah@allisonnevada.com
heather@allisonnevada.com

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal of an order in the Second Judicial District Court denying SR Construction, Inc.'s ("Appellant" or "SR") Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay the Proceedings, filed on October 7, 2020. The District Court verbally denied the Motion at a hearing on January 14, 2021, ordered the parties to a settlement conference, and stayed entry of the ruling until after the settlement conference. On April 13, 2021, after the failed settlement conference, the District Court lifted the stay and entered the Order denying the Motion. SR filed a notice of appeal on April 13, 2021.

The Supreme Court of Nevada has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1) and NRS 38.247(1)(a). NRS 38.247(1)(a) allows an interlocutory appeal from an order denying a motion to compel arbitration.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal does not fall within any of the categories listed for cases exclusively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a). This appeal also does not fall within the original jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b).

This appeal should be routed to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17 for two reasons. First, this appeal addresses a question of public policy that the Court of Appeals has rarely considered, i.e. whether a district court judge can refuse to enforce an arbitration clause existent in a valid contract, contrary to Nevada law and public policy favoring the enforcement of contractual arbitration requirements. *Tallman v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 131 NAO 71, 359 P.3d 113, 119 (Nev. 2015) ("As a matter of public policy, Nevada courts encourage arbitration and liberally construe arbitration clauses in favor of granting arbitration"). Second, this appeal involves a contract dispute exceeding \$100,000, well beyond the \$75,000 threshold for presumptively routing contract dispute cases to the Nevada Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(6).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Did the District Court err when it concluded with no analysis that the dispute between SR and Peek Bros. did not involve an issue of fact or law requiring arbitration under the GMP Contract?
- (2) Can Peek Bros. escape arbitration by leaving UHS out of its complaint and alleging the circumstances of the disputed change order were entirely based on misconduct by SR?
- (3) Can the GMP Contract between SR and UHS obligate UHS to pay for the change order disputed between SR and Peek Bros. and thereby raise an issue of fact or law that must be arbitrated under the GMP Contract?

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case concerns a construction dispute on the Northern Nevada Sierra Medical Center construction project in Reno, Nevada ("Project"). Sparks Family Medical Center, Inc. c/o Universal Health Services of Delaware ("UHS") is the owner. SR is the general contractor. Respondent Peek Brothers Construction, Inc. ("Respondent" or "Peek Bros.") was the earthwork subcontractor.

Peek Bros. ("Respondent" or "Peek Bros.") filed suit against SR on September 2, 2020. JA001-8. The lawsuit concerns disputed change orders sought by Peek Bros. JA001-8. SR accepted service on September 16, 2020. JA 009-10.

SR filed a Demand for Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") naming Peek Bros. and UHS as respondents on September 11, 2020. JA0264-269. On October 6, 2020, AAA distributed a letter to SR, Peek Bros. and UHS advising them that it would stay the arbitration proceedings pending the outcome of the motion to compel arbitration. JA0276-277. The AAA proceeding remains stayed.

On October 7, 2020, SR filed its Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay the Proceedings. JA0011-277. Peek Bros. filed an opposition on October 28, 2020. JA0278-466. SR filed its reply brief on November 9, 2020. JA0467-473.

The hearing on SR's motion to compel arbitration occurred on January 14, 2021. JA1038-82. From the bench, the District Court denied SR's motion, ordered

the parties to a settlement conference, and ordered the case stayed until after the settlement conference. JA1076-77.

THE COURT: All right. We're back on the record. Two things. First thing: Motion to compel arbitration is denied. The Court specifically finds that the dispute which underlies the Complaint here does not involve an issue of fact or law which the contractor is required to arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract. The Court adopts the analysis of the opposition, and plaintiff shall prepare a short order, three pages or less, consistent with its argument today, the Court's observations and questions, and its briefing, run it by defense counsel as to form only, consistent with our local rules on how much time they get, and then submit an order hopefully that defendant agrees as to form -- certainly not as to substance; they've been arguing passionately against it -- and submit it to the Court for review and entry. Submit it by e-mail to my judicial assistant, both in Word form and PDF. In the event parties cannot agree that the form proposed by plaintiff accurately the Court has just said, what defendant contemporaneously, with plaintiffs submitting the proposed order in Word and PDF, submit its proposed order in PDF and Word as well, and then the Court will merge or sign one or the other. That's number one.

Number two, as important as number one. The Court exercises its discretion under Nevada Supreme Court Rule 252 and Second Judicial District Court Rule 6, I'm staying this case, this litigation, other than the entry of this order, for 90 days. No Answer is required; no dispositive motion is required; no discovery; no nothing. On or before April 30, parties are ordered to a settlement conference with a neutral of their choosing; presumably somebody with construction background, but doesn't have to be. If counsel cannot agree on a neutral after good-faith efforts, let the Court know by e-mail that you're at an impasse even at that level, and I'll appoint someone from my large Rolodex of qualified neutrals, the cost of the event to be shared equally, unless you're able to convince one of my colleagues or a colleague in another judicial branch to preside over your settlement conference, and move forward with a settlement conference. I'm going to set now a status hearing for 90 days or so from now and see where everything stands. If you're unable to resolve it after a settlement conference, I don't need to know why, I don't need to know who was the stick in the mud, or which side or who -- "They offered nothing." I don't care. We're just going to go from that point forward rules of engagement; how much time do you need for discovery? We'll do it -- we'll have a concierge judge for purposes of streamlining the proceedings here; understanding that each side has a different view factually of what happened and legally of what the facts that can be proven as applied to the law, what kind of result. I get that.

JA1075-77.

The District Court also questioned the economy of arbitration in its remarks:

I want to have everyone bear in mind -- and I'm sure they do -- that this Court's experience is, our system works really well for \$50,000-or-below claims because of the mandatory Supreme Court Arbitration Program. And our system works reasonably well for claims, you know, if you add another zero and above. But the middle, the 50 to 250, sometimes the cost of the process can eat up the amount that's being argued, even if there's a fee-shifting provision to the prevailer. But, you know, I'm not trying to condescend here. Everyone knows that.

JA1077-78.

The settlement conference occurred on March 31, 2021 and did not result in a resolution of the dispute. JA1086. On April 13, 2021, the District Court entered a written order denying SR's Motion to Compel Arbitration. JA0474-76. The Order contained no analysis, but concluded:

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that the dispute between Peek Brothers and SR Construction does not involve issues of fact or law that must be arbitrated pursuant to the prime contract because the dispute does not involve UHS. Therefore, the arbitration provision contained in Exhibit D, § W of the Subcontract does not apply, and Peek Brothers is not obligated to resolve the instant dispute by way of arbitration.

JA0476. SR filed its notice of appeal pursuant to NRS 38.247(1)(a) on April 13, 2021. JA0477-79.

# II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. The Master Subcontract Agreement.

SR and Peek Bros. entered into a Master Subcontract Agreement ("MSA") on October 8, 2019. JA-125-205. The MSA does not arise from a particular construction project, but instead defined the relationship between SR and Peek Bros. on all construction projects where they would work together, essentially placing Peek Bros. on a roster of subcontractors that SR routinely employs. JA0126. When SR engaged Peek Bros. on a project, it would issue a work order defining the scope, price, and specific terms and conditions of the project. JA0126-27. The work orders would incorporate the MSA by reference. JA0126-27.

The dispute resolution section of the MSA binds SR and Peek Bros. to whatever dispute resolution requirements might exist between SR and an owner on a future project:

W. DISPUTE RESOLUTION – ARBITRATION – (a) Contractor and Subcontractor shall not be obligated to resolve disputes arising under this Subcontract by arbitration, unless (i) the prime contract has an arbitration requirement; and (ii) a particular dispute between the Contractor and Subcontractor involves issues of fact or law which the Contractor is required to arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract [...] (c) Should the Contractor enter into arbitration with any Owner or others with regard to issues relating to this Agreement, the Subcontractor shall be bound by the result of the arbitration to the same degree as the Contractor.

JA0159-60. To summarize, disputes between SR and Peek Bros. must be arbitrated when the prime contract between SR and the owner has an arbitration requirement and the dispute involves issues that SR must arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract. When there is no arbitration requirement between SR and the owner, there is no obligation to arbitrate. When the dispute does not involve issues of fact or law that SR must arbitrate with the owner, there is no obligation to arbitrate. When the contract between SR and an owner has an arbitration requirement, and the contract requires the owner to pay for subcontractor change orders, and the owner hotly disputes the validity of a subcontractor change order, then there absolutely is an obligation to arbitrate.

#### B. The GMP Contract.

SR and UHS executed AIA Document A133 – 209 "Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Construction Manager as Constructor where the basis of payment is the Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price" on May 6, 2020 ("GMP Contract"). JA0036. The GMP Contract is a costplus arrangement with a guaranteed maximum price ("GMP"). JA0046. Reimbursable costs "necessarily incurred" by SR up to the GMP are payable by UHS. JA0046. Reimbursable costs include payments made by SR to subcontractors in accordance with the requirements of the subcontracts. JA0047.

For example, if Peek Bros. is entitled under its subcontract to receive \$1,000,000 for its work on the Project, the GMP Contract obligates UHS to pay that amount to SR, subject to the GMP. If Peek Bros.' is entitled to a \$250,000 change order under its subcontract for additional work, thereby increasing its subcontract to \$1,250,000, UHS must pay SR that amount subject to the GMP. For this reason, provided the GMP has not already been exceeded, UHS has a direct interest in the legitimacy of subcontract change orders.

The GMP Contract requires arbitration with AAA as the method of binding dispute resolution:

Arbitration shall be utilized as the method for binding dispute resolution in the Agreement, any Claim subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the Agreement. The Arbitration shall be conducted in the place where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing notice of demand for arbitration must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is permitted to be demanded.

JA0109. An arbitration award is final and may be entered in any court with jurisdiction. *Id.* The converse is not true. A judgment rendered by a court absent arbitration is not binding on UHS. SR has not waived arbitration. Neither has UHS.

#### C. The Work Order.

SR issued a Work Order Addendum to Master Subcontract Agreement ("Work Order") to Peek Bros. for the Project on December 8, 2019. JA0207. The Work Order tied the MSA directly to the Project, stating that "[t]he terms and obligations of the above-referenced Master Subcontract Agreement are fully incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein." JA0207. It must be noted that the GMP Contract was still months away, but Peek Bros. did not take the opportunity to distance itself from whatever arbitration requirement the future GMP Contract might have.

The Work Order set a price of \$3,062,000 and required Peek Bros. to provide "all labor, material, equipment, hoisting, tools and supervision required to furnish and install the Core and Shell Civil Work in accordance with <u>all</u> documents shown..." JA0207, JA0221. The scope of work included, but was not limited to, providing mass grading for the site, sub and base grading for the building pad, excavating footings, excavating, compacting and backfilling footings and grade beams, providing sanitary sewer, fire and domestic water, and providing other services to prepare the pad for the Project. JA0221-24. The scope of work further included line items for mobilization, traffic control, construction water, SWPPP, dewatering allowance, mass grading, footing excavation, sub & base grade for building pad, sanitary sewer, fire and domestic water, NV Energy/AT&T, site

communications, underslab plumbing trench & backfill, underslab electrical & telecom trench & backfill, site lighting trench & backfill, WQ-basins grading, miscellaneous logistics, and parking lot site lighting & light pole bases. JA0224-25.

#### D. Peek Bros.' Disputed Change Order Request.

On or about May 21, 2020 Peek Bros. submitted Change Order #17 for the cost of labor and equipment to import additional fill to the Project site to bring the pad to subgrade elevation. JA0281. Peek Bros. revised Change Order #17 on June 4, 2020 to reflect an addition of \$137,497.50. JA0281. SR disputed the change order request and advised UHS that the requested change order lacked merit. UHS agreed with SR's position and issued a memorandum to SR on July 23, 2020 rejecting the change order:

It is my understanding that they [Peek Bros.] are asserting that they are owed payment for bringing additional import material (6,000 CY) to the site...which, as I understand it, represents a change to their understood work plan of bringing the building pad to an elevation of 42 and then using soils from the footing/grade-beam and utility trenches to eventually reach subgrade.

Also, as I understand it, there was no real necessary change in their work plan as the construction documents and subcontract agreement call for Peek Brothers to deliver a certified building pad at elevation 43...Additionally, I understand that we now have additional fill that will now need to be hauled away from the site (6,000 CY) as it was not truly necessary in the current scope of work that is subsumed under their contract and Peek Brothers are requesting a change order for this extra work.

JA0263. UHS further directed SR not to pay the change order and to seek dispute resolution under the GMP Contract:

UHS is rejecting this change order, and we are directing SR Construction to initiate dispute resolution on the matter. SR Construction shall not settle or otherwise authorize payment of all or any portion of the disputed change order request under the terms of the Prime Contract without written authorization from UHS. It is our expectation that SR Construction will keep UHS fully apprised of any further settlement discussions and/or dispute resolution proceedings until such time that a resolution has been reached. UHS reserves all rights on this matter.

Id.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

SR's argument begins with a respectful critique of the District Court's order denying SR's motion to compel arbitration. Beyond the fact the District Court reached the wrong conclusion, there are two serious problems with the District Court's ruling. The first problem is that the ruling is devoid of analysis. The District Court nakedly concluded the dispute between SR and Peek Bros. did not involve issues of law or fact that required SR to arbitrate under the GMP Contract, but it cited no facts or law in support of its conclusion. The second problem involves the repeated and lengthy comments from the bench during oral argument that arbitration was not a good idea in this dispute because of the amount in dispute. This Court cannot overlook the comments because they exhibit an improper mindset by the District Court when it decided whether to compel arbitration.

SR next shines a spotlight on Peek Bros.' attempt to artfully plead itself out of an arbitration requirement by omitting UHS from its pleading and alleging with no facts that the owner has nothing to do with the disputed change order. This Court does not respond kindly to gamesmanship in pleading, especially when it is guaranteed that SR's first pleading, if required, will be to bring UHS into the lawsuit.

SR finally tackles the heart of the appeal by embracing the *de novo* standard of review the law calls for. The determination of whether the dispute over Peek Bros.' change order raises issues of fact or law that must be arbitrated lies in the interpretation of the unambiguous and time-tested AIA GMP Contract. If Peek Bros. has a legitimate change order, then most likely UHS must pay for it. As such, the dispute must be arbitrated under the GMP Contract.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

There are two potential standards of review in this appeal. A district court is owed deference in determining whether an arbitration requirement *exists* in a contract. *Truck Ins. Exch. v. Swanson*, 124 Nev. 629, 632, 189 P.3d 656, 659 (2008) (2008), *quoting May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672-73, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005). The *construction* of the contractual provisions that support or refute the arbitration requirement is reviewed *de novo*. *Clark County Pub. Employees Ass'n v. Pearson*, 106 Nev. 587, 590, 798 P.2d 136, 137 (1990) ("[w]hether a dispute is arbitrable is essentially a question of construction of a contract. Thus, the reviewing

court is obligated to make its own independent determination on the issue, and should not defer to the district court's determination.")

Here, there is no dispute between SR and Peek Bros. that an arbitration requirement exists between them. The conflict arises over the *construction* of the pertinent contracts. SR asserts the GMP Contract obligates UHS to reimburse SR for all payments made to Peek Bros. in accordance with the requirements of the MSA and Work Order and therefore the disputed change order involves issues of fact and law that SR must arbitrate under the terms of the GMP Contract. JA0046, JA0109, JA0159-60. This Court must review the GMP Contract and MSA *de novo* and then properly construct the contracts. The obligation to arbitrate or not arbitrate will flow from this Court's independent legal analysis.

No deference is owed to the District Court for its ruling. It baldly decided "the dispute between Peek Brothers and SR Construction does not involve issues of fact or law that must be arbitrated pursuant to the prime contract because the dispute does not involve UHS," but failed to explain *why* in its Order. JA0474-76. Although SR extensively argued in its moving papers (JA0017-18, JA0468-72) and at oral argument (JA1043-52) about the importance of UHS's obligations in the GMP Contract, no legal analysis of the contracts exists in the District Court's Order. JA0474-76. "A finding is 'clearly erroneous' when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm

conviction that a mistake has been committed." *Unionamerica Mortg. & Equity Tr.* v. McDonald, 97 Nev. 210, 211-12, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981) (internal citations omitted). A conclusion devoid of legal analysis or factual support is the essence of a "clearly erroneous" ruling and is entitled to no deference.

#### V. ARGUMENT

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