1 2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA			
VILORIA, COUNSELORS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW OLIPHANT, Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838 OSTER & P.O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89504 AMAN L.P. 327 California Avenue ~ Reno, Nevada 89509	3 4		Electronically Filed Sep 23 2021 02:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown		
	5	SR CONSTRUCTION, INC., A NEVADA DOMESTIC CORPORATION,	SUPREME COURT SUPREMO COURT 82786		
	7 8 9	Appellant, vs.	District Court Case No.: CV20-01375		
	10 11	PEEK BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC., A NEVADA DOMESTIC CORPORATION,			
	12	Respondent.			
	131415	RESPONDENT PEEK BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

I. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This matter involves a dispute between a subcontractor, Peek Brothers, and a general contractor, SR Construction, Inc. ("SR"), with whom Peek Brothers contracted to perform earthwork related to the construction of the Northern Nevada Sierra Medical Center ("Project"). During the course of construction on the Project, SR made an unnecessary demand to change the means and methods by which Peek Brothers performed its work, a change which necessitated additional labor and material and, accordingly, increased the cost of work on the Project. As further explained herein, despite making this demand with full knowledge of the increase in cost, SR refuses to pay Peek Brothers for the additional work performed, which has required Peek Brothers to file the underlying litigation.

SR now seeks to arbitrate this dispute pursuant to the terms of the Master Subcontract Agreement ("Subcontract") entered into between Peek Brothers and SR. SR is attempting to additionally bind Peek Brothers to the arbitration provision contained in the Prime Contract between itself and the Project owner, Sparks Family Medical Center, Inc. c/o Universal Health Services of Delaware ("UHS"), despite the fact that Peek Brothers is not a party to the Prime Contract and nothing within the terms of the Prime

-1-

ATTORNEYS AND

COUNSELORS AT LAW

Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838

P. O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89504

327 California Avenue ~ Reno, Nevada 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN LLP. Contract require this dispute to be arbitrated. The rationale behind SR's demand to arbitrate is SR's insistence that UHS is liable for the increase in cost. However, SR's argument is a blatant red herring, as the instant dispute has nothing to do with UHS, UHS did not make the erroneous decision at issue, and UHS is not responsible to pay for SR's erroneous and unwarranted decision. In fact, under the express terms of the Subcontract, arbitration is the *exception*, not the rule, and the facts of this case absolutely do not trigger that very narrow arbitration exception.

SR's criticisms of the District Court's decision denying its Motion to Compel Arbitration are similarly misguided and unsupported. As even a cursory review of the transcripts of proceedings and the District Court's order denying SR's Motion to Compel will reveal, the District Court engaged in thorough questioning of the parties, provided an oral ruling expressly adopting Peek Brothers' arguments opposing arbitration, and entered a written order clearly delineating the basis for its decision. Thus, SR's contentions that the District Court failed to adequately support the reasoning behind its decision and demonstrated a "bias" against arbitration should be rejected outright.¹

-2-

¹ Given SR's criticisms of the District Court, it is worth noting that the District Court judge, the Honorable Barry L. Breslow, is an experienced arbiter, served as the Second Judicial District Court's Arbitration Judge from 2018 to 2021, and also served as an arbitrator for the Nevada Supreme Court-annexed arbitration program prior to taking the bench in 2018. Judge Breslow's extensive record as an arbiter

Attorneys and Counselors at Law Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838 P. O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89504 327 California Avenue ~ Reno, Nevada 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN L.L.P. In sum, Peek Brothers respectfully requests this Court affirm the District Court's denial of SR's Motion to Compel Arbitration and find that this dispute is not subject to arbitration pursuant to the terms of the Subcontract or Prime Contract.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

On October 8, 2019, Peek Brothers entered into a Subcontract with SR—and subsequent Work Order on January 8, 2020 ("Work Order")—in which Peek Brothers agreed to perform earthwork related to the construction of the Project. JA0290-370. Included in Peek Brothers' scope of work on the Project was site mass grading, sub and base grade for the building pad, and footing excavation ("Scope of Work"). JA0206-261. In consideration for Peek Brothers' performance, SR agreed to pay Peek Brothers the sum of Three Million Sixty-Two Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$3,062,000.00). Id. For this bid price, Peek Brothers planned to utilize the extra material from excavation of the building footings and plumbing trenches ("spoils") to backfill the building footings and bring the building pad to subgrade elevation. JA001-8. In other words, Peek Brothers would use the dirt it had dug up in

absolutely belies SR's accusations that Judge Breslow is biased against arbitration. See Second Judicial District Court Judge Barry L. Breslow Biography, available at https://www.washoecourts.com/Judges/Biography/D8.

ATTORNEYS AND
COUNSELORS AT LAW
Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838
P. O. BOX 62 ~ RENO, NEVADA 89504
327 CALIFORNIA AVENUE ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

the process of creating trenches and footings to build up the footings and building pad. <u>Id</u>.

During the course of construction on the Project, SR, through its employee, Fred Kravetz, expressly directed Peek Brothers to import approximately 150,000 square feet of structural fill to the Project site to bring the building pad to subgrade elevation rather than utilize the material excavated from the building footings and plumbing trenches ("spoils") to do so. <u>Id</u>. Simply put, SR did not want to wait for Peek Brothers to dig the footings and trenches before bringing the building pad to subgrade elevation. Id. Peek Brothers informed Mr. Kravetz, in no uncertain terms, that the importation of structural fill was entirely unnecessary and would require the eventual removal of the excess material dug up from the building footings and plumbing trenches. Id. Despite Peek Brothers' warnings, Mr. Kravetz demanded Peek Brothers change the means and methods by which Peek Brothers bid and performed its work and import the additional material at the additional cost. Id.

In accordance with Mr. Kravetz' demand, Peek Brothers purchased the additional material and had the material trucked in to the Project site. <u>Id</u>. Peek Brothers performed the earthwork to bring the building pad to subgrade elevation between April 9, 2020 and April 13, 2020. <u>Id</u>. Subsequently, the

COUNSELORS AT LAW
COUNSELORS AT LAW
Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838
P. O. BOX 62 ~ RENO, NEVADA 89504
327 CALIFORNIA AVENUE ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN L.L.P. building footings and plumbing trenches were dug, and the spoils were stockpiled on site. Id.

Despite performance and substantial costs incurred by Peek Brothers, SR refused to accept two Change Orders for the additional material and labor that Peek Brothers expended in order to comply with Mr. Kravetz' demands.

Id. Accordingly, Peek Brothers filed a Complaint against SR for Breach of Contract, Attorneys' Fees, Unjust Enrichment, and a Violation of NRS Chapter 624.² Id.

After counsel for SR accepted service of the Summons and Complaint, SR filed a Demand for Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") on September 11, 2020. JA0462-466. SR then filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Litigation ("Motion to Compel") on October 7, 2020, requesting this Court compel Peek Brothers to arbitrate its dispute based upon the fact that UHS refuses to pay for SR's mistake. JA0011-22. The applicable arbitration provision is contained in Exhibit D, § W of the Subcontract, and states as follows:

Contractor and Subcontractor shall **not** be obligated to resolve disputes arising under this Subcontract by arbitration, unless: (i) the prime contract has an arbitration requirement; **and** (ii) a particular dispute between Contractor and Subcontractor **involves issues of fact**

² Peek Brothers has since amended its Complaint to include a claim for violation of Nevada's Prompt Payment Act based on SR's wrongful withholding of retainage due to Peek Brothers.

ATTORNEYS AND

COUNSELORS AT LAW

Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838

P. O. BOX 62 ~ RENO, NEVADA 89504

327 CALIFORNIA AVENUE ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN L.L.P. or law which the Contractor is required to arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract.

JA0324-325 (emphasis added). The foregoing provision is clear that arbitration is an exception to litigation, only arising under very limited situations. What's more, the Prime Contract does not include any language whatsoever regarding "issues of fact or law" which require SR to arbitrate disputes with its subcontractors. See AIA Document A133 – 2009 and AIA Document A201 – 2017, JA0371-461 (collectively, "Prime Contract").

Based on the express terms of the Subcontract and the Prime Contract,

Peek Brothers opposed the Motion to Compel, and maintained that the instant

dispute *does not* involves issues of fact or law that SR is required to arbitrate

pursuant to its Prime Contract with UHS. JA0278-289.

The District Court entered an Order Setting Hearing on December 17, 2020, and the parties subsequently appeared before the District Court on January 14, 2020, to argue the merits of the Motion to Compel. Throughout the hearing, the District Court engaged in thorough and substantial questioning of counsel during the parties' respective arguments and entered an oral ruling denying the Motion to Compel. JA1038-1082. The District Court

³ It is worth noting that, unlike the Prime Contract, the Subcontract is *not* an AIA contract. As a result, the Subcontract and the Prime Contract, and the arbitration provisions contained therein, do not have any logical relation to one another and cannot be read together in any cohesive way.

Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838 327 CALIFORNIA AVENUE ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

ATTORNEYS AND

1

3

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

25

26

27

28

DLIPHANT

"specifically [found] that the dispute which underlies the Complaint here does not involve an issue of fact or law which the contractor is required to arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract." JA1075 at lns. 18-21.

In addition, the District Court expressly adopted the analysis outlined in Peek Brothers' Opposition to Motion to Compel and directed Peek Brothers to prepare an order "consistent with its argument today, the Court's observations and questions, and its briefing." JA1075-1076 at lns. 22-1. Counsel for Peek Brothers prepared the proposed order and provided the same to counsel for SR for review and approval. The District Court entered said Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Litigation ("Order Denying Motion to Compel") on April 13, 2021.⁴ JA0474-476.

That same day, prior to entry of the Order, the District Court held a status hearing in which the District Court discussed the outcome of the settlement conference and lifted its temporary stay of this case. JA1084-1101. Immediately thereafter, SR filed its Notice of Appeal with this Honorable Court, seeking review of the District Court's denial of its Motion to Compel.

JA0477-479.

⁴ At the January 14, 2021 hearing, the District Court exercised its discretion to stay the litigation for ninety days, including entry of the Order, pending the outcome of a settlement conference between the parties. JA1076-1079. That settlement conference was held on March 31, 2021. The settlement conference was ultimately unsuccessful and the District Court entered the Order thereafter.

COUNSELORS AT LAW

Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838

P. O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89504

327 California Avenue ~ Reno, Nevada 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN LLP. SR also sought a stay of the District Court proceedings pending the determination of its appeal and was granted a stay by this Court on June 28, 2021. Appellant then filed Appellants' Opening Brief ("AOB") with this Court on August 11, 2021, and the instant Answering Brief follows.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Section 38.219 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, "[a]n agreement contained in a record to submit to arbitration any existing or subsequent controversy arising between the parties to the agreement is valid, enforceable and irrevocable except as otherwise provided in NRS 597.995 or upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for the revision of a contract." NRS 38.219. In Nevada, the district court has the authority to determine whether an agreement to arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an arbitration agreement. See NRS 38.221; NRS 38.219(2); Philips v. Parker, 106 Nev. 415, 417, 794 P.2d 716 (1990). There must be an agreement to arbitrate for there to be a presumption of arbitrability. Philips, 106 Nev. at 417, 794 P.2d at 716.

Moreover, "arbitrability is usually a question of contractual construction," which is, in turn, a question of law for the court's determination. State ex rel. Masto v. Second Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Washoe, 125 Nev. 37, 44, 199 P.3d 828, 832 (2009) (citing

Attorneys and Counselors at Law Counselors at Law Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838 P.O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN L.L.P. Kennedy & Mitchell, Inc. v. Anadarko Prod. Co., 243 Kan. 130, 754 P.2d 803, 805-06 (1988)).

While "Nevada courts resolve all doubts concerning the arbitrability of the subject matter of a dispute in favor of arbitration." Int'l Assoc. Firefighters v. City of Las Vegas, 104 Nev. 615, 618, 764 P.2d 478, 480 (1988), it is well-established that "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Communication Workers of America, 475 U.S. 643, 648 (1986). "This axiom recognizes the fact that arbitrators derive their authority to resolve disputes only because the parties have agreed in advance to submit such grievances to arbitration." Id. at 648-49.

Lastly, NRS 38.247 permits a party to appeal a district court's order denying a motion to compel arbitration. NRCP 38.247(1)(a).

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Found that the Dispute Between Peek Brothers and SR is Not Subject to Arbitration.

SR admittedly waits until the end of its Opening Brief to "tackle[] the heart of [its] appeal," resorting first to baseless and unsubstantiated arguments regarding the District Court's lack of findings and alleged bias against arbitration. However, Peek Brothers believes it more appropriate to first

ATTORNEYS AND

COUNSELORS AT LAW

Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838

P. O. BOX 62 ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

327 CALIFORNIA AVENUE ~ RENO, NEVADA 89509

VILORIA, OLIPHANT, OSTER & AMAN LL.P. address the substance of SR's appeal—namely its assertion that the parties are required to arbitrate their dispute pursuant to the Prime Contract.

Peek Brothers reiterates that Exhibit D, § W of the Subcontract contains a "Dispute Resolution" provision, which provides as follows:

Contractor and Subcontractor shall **not** be obligated to resolve disputes arising under this Subcontract by arbitration, unless: (i) the prime contract has an arbitration requirement; **and** (ii) a particular dispute between Contractor and Subcontract **involves issues of fact or law which the Contractor is required to arbitrate under the terms of the prime contract**.

JA0324-325 (emphasis added). This provision makes clear that SR and Peek Brothers *are not* required to arbitrate unless certain conditions are met. If SR had intended to arbitrate all disputes with its subcontractor, SR was free to draft an arbitration provision requiring just that, or use an AIA or AAA form arbitration provision.

Consequently, based on the express terms of the Subcontract, Peek
Brothers and SR are not obligated to resolve disputes under the Subcontract

unless the Prime Contract both includes an arbitration requirement—which it

does—and the dispute between Peek Brothers and SR involves issues of fact

or law that the Prime Contract requires SR to arbitrate—which it does not.

Thus, under the express terms of the Subcontract's Dispute Resolution

provision, arbitration is the exception, not the rule.

Attorneys and Counselors at Law Office: (775) 284-8888 Fax: (775) 284-3838
P. O. Box 62 ~ Reno, Nevada 89504
327 Calfornia Avenue ~ Reno, Nevada 89509

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